097

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

DEC 27 1994 //

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Petitioner,

v.

GENEVA FORRESTER,

Respondent.

Case No.

82,090

TFB No.

93-10,060(6D)

93-11,031(6D)

INITIAL BRIEF

OF

THE FLORIDA BAR

DAVID R. RISTOFF Branch Staff Counsel The Florida Bar Suite C-49 Tampa Airport, Marriott Hotel Tampa, FL 33607 (813) 875-9821 Attorney No. 358576

BONNIE L. MAHON
Assistant Staff Counsel
The Florida Bar
Suite C-49
Tampa Airport, Marriott Hotel
Tampa, FL 33607
(813) 875-9821
Attorney No. 376183

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND OF THE CASE

The facts hereinafter set forth relate only to Count I (TFB No. 93-10,060(6D)) of Supreme Court Case No. 82,090; Lillie Haynes served as Guardian of the Person and Property of Sarainne L. Andrews from 1982 to the date of Mrs. Andrews' death on June 19, 1991 (PT, pp. 9-10, 1280). During this period, Mrs. Haynes handled all matters involved in the quardianship including investments, accounting, banking, employment of medical assistants to care for the Ward and the like (PT, pp. 11, 1280-1282; DT, p. The only matters not handled by Mrs. Haynes were legal concerns (PT, pp. 11, 1280). Barry Williams was legal counsel for the quardianship until his death in April of 1988, when he was succeeded by Respondent. Respondent's employment as attorney for the quardian continued until Mrs. Andrews' death (PT, pp. 10-11, 1281; DT, pp. 9-11). Respondent was compensated at the rate of \$200.00 per hour for the legal services she provided to Lillie Haynes as quardian for Mrs. Andrews (PT, p. 517; DT, pp. 13-14).

Sarainne Andrews died leaving a Last Will and Testament which named Lillie Haynes as personal representative of her Estate (DT, p. 21). The Andrews Estate consisted primarily of liquid, marketable assets which had been managed by Ms. Haynes prior to and during the term of the guardianship. The approximate value of the Estate at the time of Mrs. Andrews' death was \$14,800,000.00 (PR, pp. 2564-2594; DT, p. 19). Pursuant to Mrs. Andrews' Will, certain items of tangible personal property were devised to family members and friends, and the entire liquid asset residue of Mrs. Andrews'

estate was devised to thirteen charitable beneficiaries (PR, pp. 3533-3542; DT, pp. 21-22).

On June 19, 1991, Lillie Haynes hired the Respondent to render necessary legal services to her as personal representative of the Andrews Estate (PT, p. 12).

On April 4, 1991, (two and one-half months prior to Mrs. Andrews' death), the Supreme Court of Florida issued its first decision in the case of <u>In Re: Estate of Lester Platt</u>, 16 Fla. L. Weekly S237 (April 4, 1991) (<u>Platt I</u>), which held that in the absence of an agreement, attorney's fees for an attorney representing a personal representative in an estate could not be based solely upon a percentage of the value of the estate. [The opinion was amplified and expanded by the Florida Supreme Court in its second published opinion found at 586 So. 2d 328 (Fla. 1991) (<u>Platt II</u>)]. Respondent had knowledge of and understood the ruling of the Supreme Court in regard to <u>Platt I</u> as of the date of Mrs. Andrews' death (PT, pp. 524-534).

On June 24, 1991, Respondent sent a letter to Mrs. Haynes, enclosing an Estate check made payable to Respondent in the amount of \$80,000.00, which Respondent indicated would be her initial attorney's fee (DR, TFB Exh. #3; DT, pp. 37-38). At the time Mrs. Haynes received Respondent's letter and the \$80,000.00 check, Respondent and Mrs. Haynes had not discussed or entered into an agreement regarding Respondent's fees for legal services to the Estate. In addition, at the time Respondent requested Ms. Haynes to sign the \$80,000.00 check, Respondent had not advised Ms. Haynes of

the hourly rate she intended to charge for her legal services; she did not provide Mrs. Haynes with a billing statement or time records which indicated the services and time she had spent working on the Estate; she did not advise or disclose to Ms. Haynes that in the event Respondent was not entitled to the \$80,000.00, Haynes, as personal representative, would be liable to the Estate for the same (PT, pp. 14-16). Further, when Respondent requested the \$80,000.00 initial attorney's fee, she had not reviewed her time records nor had she made a determination as to her entitlement to the funds requested (PT, p. 567). Mrs. Haynes signed the \$80,000.00 check and returned the same to Respondent because Respondent, as her attorney, instructed her to do so and indicated she knew what she was doing (PT, p. 1302).

Respondent was experiencing financial problems at the time she sought and received the \$80,000.00 from Haynes (DT, pp. 192-195; DR, TFB Composite Exh. #45). On June 26, 1991, Respondent deposited the \$80,000.00 check into her law office operating account (DR, TFB Composite Exh. #45; DT, p. 42). On August 22, 1991, Respondent's operating account balance was only \$1,503.22 even though, between June 26, 1991 and August 22, 1991, Respondent deposited \$17,082.85 of additional funds unrelated to the Andrews case into her operating account (DR, TFB Composite Exh. #45).

In July 1991, Respondent presented to Mrs. Haynes, a document entitled "Authorization Agreement For Compensation of Attorney". Although Mrs. Haynes did not agree to pay Respondent the fees outlined in said Agreement, she did consent to the document being

forwarded to the thirteen residuary beneficiaries for their approval (PT, pp. 21-22, 36; DR, TFB Exh. #6).

On July 26, 1991, Respondent mailed the "Authorization Agreement for Compensation of Attorney" to the thirteen residuary beneficiaries (PR, pp. 2981-2989; PT, p. 679; DR, TFB Exh. #6). The "Authorization Agreement for Compensation of Attorney" requested the following: \$80,000.00 minimum fee in advance, \$500.00 cost deposit in advance. The \$80,000.00 minimum fee was to be included in the total fees agreed to. The total attorney's fees to be paid were to be based on a percentage of the total value of the estate as follows:

Five percent (5%) - first \$10,000.00; Four percent (4%) - next \$15,000.00; Three and one-half percent (3 1/2%) of the balance. (Id.).

The cover letter accompanying the Agreement to the residuary beneficiaries requested that the residuary beneficiaries consent to the requested fees, execute the Authorization Agreement, and return it to Respondent (Id.). In the cover letter, Respondent did not make any disclosure to the residual beneficiaries of the Supreme Court's decision in the case of <u>In Re: Estate of Lester Platt</u> (supra), (<u>Platt I and II</u>). (Id.)

After receiving notification from several residuary beneficiaries of their intent not to consent to the requested fee, and without receiving any authorization to the fee from any of the residuary beneficiaries, Respondent requested from the personal representative of the Andrews Estate, an additional partial payment of fees in the amount of \$115,000.00 (PT, pp. 715-716, 1303). On

August 20, 1991, Mrs. Haynes executed and delivered to Respondent, a check in the amount of \$115,000.00 (PT, pp. 574-575, 1303; DT, p. 69; DR, TFB Exh. #9). As with the previous payment, Respondent made no review of time records or determination as to her entitlement to the fee prior to depositing the check into her general operating account (PT, pp. 574-575; DR, TFB Exh. #9; DT, p. 75).

In addition, at the time Respondent requested Mrs. Haynes to sign the \$115,000.00 check, Respondent had not advised or disclosed to Haynes that in the event Respondent was found not to be entitled to the \$115,000.00 or the total fee to date of \$195,000.00, Haynes, as personal representative, would be liable to the Estate for the excess funds paid to Respondent (PT, p. 27).

At all times material, the only agreement relating to the payment of attorney's fees to Respondent for her work on the Andrews Estate, was an oral agreement between Respondent and Haynes which provided that Respondent would receive attorney's fees in an amount agreed to by the thirteen residuary beneficiaries, or in the absence of an agreement of all residuary beneficiaries, fees as determined by the Circuit Court for Pinellas County, Probate Division (PT, pp. 21-22; DT, p. 77).

On November 25, 1991, Lillie Haynes discharged Respondent as attorney for the Estate and retained the law firm of Baxter and Strohauer to complete the legal services required for full administration of the Estate (DT, p. 83; DR, TFB Exh. #10).

On December 5, 1991, Respondent filed a Motion to Withdraw and

for Reasonable Attorney's Fees. In this Motion, Respondent claimed entitlement to attorney's fees in the approximate amount of \$521,000.00 based upon the criteria set forth in the Authorization Agreement for Compensation of Attorney previously supplied to, but rejected by at least eight of the thirteen residuary beneficiaries (PR, pp. 33-43; DR, TFB Exh. #13). The requested compensation was based on a percentage of the value of the Estate and not upon the criteria established by the Supreme Court in In Re: Platt, supra (DT, p. 56).

Respondent claimed in her Motion that the legal work on the Estate was effectively completed, that agreements as to fees had been received from a number of the residuary beneficiaries, but that all thirteen residuary beneficiaries had not yet approved the fees (DR, TFB Exh. #13; PR, pp. 33-43).

At the time Respondent filed the Motion, no necessary tax work had been completed or tax clearances received, no accounting had been prepared or filed, and no arrangements for distribution to residuary beneficiaries had been made; only 45% to 50% of the necessary legal work to administer the Estate had been completed and at least eight residual beneficiaries had rejected the fee agreement (PT, pp. 842-845; DT, p. 407; PR, pp. 1242, 2058-2154).

On April 3, 1992, Ms. Forrester filed an Amended Petition for Attorney's Fees and Costs which alleged in paragraph 5, the existence of an agreement between Ms. Forrester and Lillie Haynes, wherein Ms. Haynes agreed to pay attorney's fees to Ms. Forrester based upon a percentage of the value of the Estate (PR, pp. 668-

671). However, because sworn testimony of Respondent (PR, p. 2498) was in direct contradiction to the allegation in Respondent's Amended Petition for Attorney's Fees and Costs, Judge Penick entered an Order striking paragraph 5 of the Amended Petition.

In her Petition for Fees and Costs, Respondent claimed to have expended 559 hours in rendering services to the Estate. itemization of the time expended by Respondent, and by her other office personnel and agents, was submitted to the Probate Court (PR, pp. 2821-2854). During the term of her employment, Respondent had prepared and filed necessary pleadings (PR, pp. 1-27, 3533-3553). In addition, Respondent engaged in correspondence with the meetings with the personal representative, beneficiaries, the distribution of tangible personal property and Respondent also claimed she maintained the Estate checking account and a running accounting of receipts and disbursements (PT, pp. 121-439). Respondent performed numerous non-legal services, such as attending the funeral and viewing the decedent, reviewing prior Wills of the decedent, inventorying of Estate assets, locating beneficiaries, recording sales of assets, sales commissions and exchange fees, identifying and obtaining refund of insurance policies, accounting for receipts for care of estate's assets, reviewing records of the personal representative, and banking (Id.).

Mrs. Haynes disputed some claims of Respondent and claimed that some services were to be rendered by the personal representative and not the attorney, and that they were done

without the authorization or approval of the personal representative (PT, pp. 1282-1289). In many cases, Mrs. Haynes claimed the services provided by Respondent were both unnecessary and unwanted (Id.).

An evidentiary hearing on fees before Judge Penick commenced on May 4, 1992, and continued through May 6, 1992 (PT, Vols. I and II). The hearing was not concluded at that time and the remainder of the hearing on fees was heard the week of July 6th through 10th, 1992 (PT, Vols. III-VII). At the evidentiary hearing, testimony was given by Respondent, Lillie Haynes, and Sally Biggs, Respondent's witness. In addition, Respondent utilized three expert witnesses, Seymour Gordon, Esquire; Gerald Colen, Esquire; and Gardner Beckett, Esquire, to establish the reasonableness of the fee she claimed she was entitled to. Lillie Haynes utilized the testimony of two expert witnesses, Sally Foote, Esquire; and William Reischmann, Esquire (identified as Richman in the probate transcripts) (PT, pp. 7-1317). The Rule was invoked during the proceeding. At the conclusion of the first portion of the hearing on May 6, 1992, Respondent was on the stand as her own witness under direct examination when the hearing was adjourned until July. At that time, Judge Penick informed Respondent that she was on the stand and ordered her to not discuss the case with anyone, including but not limited to her employees and expert witnesses, until her testimony was completed (PT, p. 396). resumed on July 6, 1992 and Respondent's direct testimony was not concluded until the afternoon of July 8, 1992. On the evening of

July 7, 1991, Respondent met with two of her expert witnesses, Gerald Colen and Gardner Beckett, and discussed the case and their testimony (PT, pp. 868-872).

On July 9, 1992, Judge Penick entered an Order to Show Cause why Respondent should not be held in indirect criminal contempt of court for her violation of his sequestration order (PT, p. 910). After a full hearing on the Order to Show Cause, Judge Penick entered an Order dated October 7, 1992, finding Respondent guilty of indirect criminal contempt.

During the evidentiary hearing in the probate case, Respondent claimed that Sally Biggs performed 124.5 hours of banking and accounting services to the Estate for which Respondent was entitled to be compensated at the rate of \$125.00 per hour (PR, pp. 2821-Respondent claimed that Ms. Biggs was an employee of 2851). Respondent's law firm (PT, p. 643). Respondent's own witness, Ms. Biggs, testified that she was not an employee of Respondent's, but rather an independent contractor engaged in the accounting business and compensated at the rate of \$25.00 per hour for her services (PT, pp. 1018, 1143-1146). The time records which itemized Biggs' services showing an expenditure of 124.5 hours did not reflect the time on Biggs' contemporaneous time records (PT, p. 1150). Biggs, at the request of Respondent, had increased her time, and the increased time was reflected on the time records supplied by Respondent to the Probate Court. During the course of the probate evidentiary hearing on fees, Ms. Biggs reconstructed her time. Biggs had actually expended 54 hours in providing banking and accounting services to the Estate (PT, pp. 1150-1151). Respondent modified her own time records to reflect an increase in time expended on at least one occasion subsequent to Respondent's termination as attorney for the Estate (PT, pp. 1152, 1157; DT, pp. 197, 199-200, 219, 224-225).

On August 3, 1992, Judge Penick entered his Order on Attorney's Fees which awarded Respondent a total fee of \$46,725.00 for service rendered to Lillie Haynes as personal representative of the Andrews Estate. Judge Penick specifically found that Respondent had received \$195,000.00, and that the Estate was entitled to return of the difference between the amount received and the amount awarded plus prejudgment interest as set forth in the Order (PR, pp. 1662-1672).

Respondent appealed Judge Penick's Order on Attorney's Fees.
On March 18, 1994, the Second District Court of Appeal per curiam affirmed Judge Penick's Order on Attorney's Fees. (<u>In Re: Estate of Sarainne L. Andrews; Forrester v. Haynes</u>, 638 So. 2d 944 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994).

On September 7, 1993, Lillie Haynes and the Administrator Ad Litem for the Andrews Estate entered into a Stipulation (which was approved by the Probate Court by Order dated September 28, 1993) wherein it was agreed that Haynes would reimburse the Estate from the personal representative fees awarded to her, the excessive fees paid by her to Respondent, exclusive of any interest thereon, less sums collected on the Final Judgment against Respondent; that she would contribute \$20,000.00 towards the fees of Baxter and

Strohauer, P.A., to be fixed by the Court, for services rendered in obtaining and attempting to satisfy the money judgment against Respondent; and that Haynes would not receive an assignment of the Judgment in favor of the Estate against Respondent, leaving the Estate as the sole owner of said Judgment (PR, Stipulation). Respondent has attempted to discharge in bankruptcy the Judgment entered against her as a result of Judge Penick's Order on Attorney's Fees. At the time of the final hearing in this cause, Respondent's debt to the Estate had not been discharged in that the debts' dischargeability was being challenged by the Estate (DR, pp. 130-132).

The final hearing in this cause was held on July 5-8, 1994. During the first day of the final hearing, the Referee made the following inquiry:

If I'm going to consider this other record, all this stuff is already in there to support it, why are we having this trial here? (DT, pp. 123)

As a result of the Referee's inquiry, The Florida Bar agreed to utilize the entire record from the probate case, including the transcript testimony and documentary evidence from the evidentiary hearing before Judge Penick in lieu of duplicative live testimony and evidence in its case in chief (DT, pp. 124-127). As a result of the foregoing, the only live witnesses called by the Bar were Respondent and an additional expert witness, Louis Adcock, Esquire, the only expert witness in either proceeding who was certified in wills, trusts, and administration of estates. During the final hearing herein, Respondent called as her witnesses,

Joseph Lang, Esquire, Gerald Colen, Esquire; Seymour Gordon, Esquire; and John Allen, Esquire.

The Referee issued his Report of Referee on September 27, 1994. In his Report, the Referee found as to Count I that Respondent was entitled to a total fee of \$174,000.00; that she received funds from the Estate in the sum of \$195,000.00; and that she charged a clearly excessive fee. As to Count I of the Bar's Complaint, the Referee recommended that Respondent be found guilty of violating Rule 4-1.5; that she be found not guilty of all other Rules Regulating The Florida Bar alleged to have been violated by Respondent; and that she be suspended from the practice of law for sixty (60) days.

As to Count II (TFB No. 93-11,031(6D)) of the Bar's Complaint, the Referee recommended that Respondent be found guilty of violating Rule 5-1.1(g) and Rule 5-1.2(c)(1)(A) and (B); that she be found not guilty of violating Rule 4-1.15(a), Rule 5-1.1(a), and Rule 5-1.2(b)(5); and that Respondent be disciplined by a public reprimand.

On November 28, 1994, The Florida Bar filed a Petition for Review challenging the Referee's findings of fact, recommendations of guilt, and recommended discipline in regard to Count I of Supreme Court Case No. 82,090 (TFB No. 93-10,060(6D). The Florida Bar is not challenging the Referee's findings and recommendations in his Report of Referee relating to Count II.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Referee's findings of fact and his recommendations that Respondent be found not guilty of all rules alleged to have been violated except for Rule 4-1.5(a) are contrary to the competent evidence in the record and are clearly erroneous.

the record establishes clearly The evidence in convincingly that, Respondent sought a fee of \$521,000.00 and collected a fee of \$195,000.00 for her representation of the personal representative of the Andrews Estate; Respondent was only entitled to a reasonable fee of \$46,725.00 based on testimony of expert witnesses who were familiar with the fee customarily charged in the community for services similar to those performed by Respondent and with the time that Respondent reasonably should have devoted to complete 45-50% of the legal work on the Estate; Respondent misappropriated trust funds from the Andrews Estate in the amount of \$148,275.00 and sought to discharge in bankruptcy, the debt she owed to the Andrews Estate; she failed to competently represent Haynes; she knowingly and intentionally violated Judge Penick's sequestration order that she not discuss the Andrews fee case with her expert witnesses until her testimony was completed; and Respondent, in her pleadings filed with the Probate Court and her testimony during the evidentiary hearing before Judge Penick, engaged in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, misrepresentation.

The evidence in the record established that Lillie Haynes was injured by Respondent's representation and by the funds Respondent

collected and misappropriated from Haynes and the Estate in that Haynes has been required to personally pay back to the Estate \$148,275.00, less sums collected from Respondent. Haynes has also been required to contribute \$20,000.00 towards the fees of Baxter & Strohauer, P.A., for services rendered in obtaining and attempting to satisfy the money judgement entered by Judge Penick against Respondent.

Based on case law involving misconduct by an attorney similar to the misconduct of Respondent in this case, and based on the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, disbarment is the appropriate discipline for Respondent's misconduct.

Based on the competent evidence in the record herein, and on relevant case law and statutes, it was error for the Referee to recommend that Respondent be found not guilty of violating the following Rules Regulating The Florida Bar: Rule 4-1.1; Rule 4-1.4(b); Rule 4-1.15(a), (b), (c); Rule 4-3.4(c); Rule 4-8.4(c) and (d); and Rule 5-1.1.

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