26 1995

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Petitioner,

v.

GENEVA FORRESTER,

Respondent.

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

JÅN

Chief Deputy Clerk

Case No. 82,090 TFB No. 93-10,060(6D) 93-11,031 (6D)

By\_

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Henry P. Trawick, Jr. Trawick, Valentine & Hagan, P.A. P. O. Box 4019 Sarasota, Florida 34230 813 366-0660 Fla. Bar 0082069

#

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

On Issue 1 Respondent's argument is that the Bar failed to prove its case against her by clear and convincing evidence. The Bar has omitted material matters in its presentation in this brief and has stretched others to the point of incredibility. Its contentions concerning fraud, misrepresentation, misappropriation and similar factual matters are not supported by the record.

The Bar's contention that this court can review the probate transcript anew, without deferring to the referee's decision, is an incorrect proposition of law. It is doubly incorrect because the referee heard all of the lay witnesses the probate judge heard with three exceptions, two of those exceptions being either irrelevant or of little consequence. Respondent did not stipulate, as the Bar contends, that the trial judge could consider that record instead of testimony. Respondent only agreed that the referee could take judicial notice of the entire record, largely for the purpose of avoiding the Bar's time consuming and expensive attempts to introduce parts of it as exhibits.

The Bar is bound to be fair to the Respondent by the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. It has not been fair in its presentation in its brief.

On Issue 2 Respondent does not believe any of the cases cited are relevant because the Bar assumes the guilt of Respondent on all of its allegations in order to justify its position under

-11-

Issue 2. Even if Respondent were guilty in a more significant sense than the referee found, the cases do not apply to the facts in the case at bar.

Both parties agreed the referee was not bound by the probate judge's decision. The Bar now seeks to overturn that principle of law because it lost the case before the referee.

### ARGUMENT

## <u>Issue 1</u>

## WHETHER THE BAR PRESENTED CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE OF RESPONDENT'S GUILT

The underlying rule for a finding of guilt in a Bar disciplinary proceeding is that The Florida Bar must prove the violation by clear and convincing evidence. See The Florida Bar v. Simring, 612 So.2d 561 (Fla. 1993). The referee's findings of fact bear a presumption of correctness unless clearly erroneous or without evidentiary foundation. See The Florida Bar v. Hirsch, 359 So.2d 856 (Fla. 1978). While it is true the referee did not observe the demeanor of some of the witnesses in the probate trial, it is not true that Respondent stipulated that the record would be used instead of live testimony. (See page 9 of this brief) The point is irrelevant in any event because the basic facts are not disputed.

Respondent was retained as attorney for the personal representative of Sarainne L. Andrews in June 1991. She was paid \$195,000.00 in two payments on separate occasions by the personal representative before the retainer was terminated by the personal representative on November 25, 1991. The payments were not deposited in Respondent's trust account. Each payment check was made payable to Respondent, not her trust account.

After Respondent's retainer was terminated, the probate court decided that she was entitled to \$46,725.00 and that the excess over that amount must be refunded. Respondent was unable

-13-

to pay the amount immediately. Collection proceedings were instituted by the personal representative. The only method Respondent had of paying was by continuing to operate her law practice. The collection proceedings threatened to shut down the practice so she asked for and obtained bankruptcy protection. There are some side issues that will be discussed, but this is the gist of the case. From these facts The Florida Bar has complained that Respondent:

- 1. Collected a clearly excessive fee.
- 2. Was dishonest, fraudulent, deceitful and misrepresented matters.
- 3. Misappropriated client funds.

It is undisputed that Respondent's retainer contract with the personal representative ultimately required a judicial decision on the amount of her fee. The judicial decision was rendered. It established the debt from Respondent to the estate. All of the debt has been paid, except interest, by the personal representative.

The Bar devotes most of its argument to taking bits of the record and piecing them together in an effort to show the referee was wrong. The crucial question on these three accusations was the fee. The probate judge tried the fee, but he was biased. His bias shows in the record because:

- 1. He made an investigation on his own during the probate trial and accused Respondent of having financial problems on income taxes and with having mortgages foreclosed against her, both accusations being false. (DT 143-145)
- 2. He improperly ordered Respondent not to discuss the case with her expert witnesses and found her in contempt

-14-

because of a meeting at which the evidence was clear that she did not discuss her testimony.

- 3. He told Respondent that she should not be representing herself in the probate trial.
- 4. He awarded an interim fee for ordinary services to Respondent's successor of nearly \$77,000.00, much larger than what he awarded Respondent in what was effectively an interim fee, even assuming the Bar's contention is correct that only about 45% of the work was done by Respondent plus additional fees in 1994 and is being asked to do so again in 1995. (App. 65, 116, 121) The services alleged are the same in both years. The fee in 1994 was awarded based on 496.55 hours--2 1/2 times that allowed Respondent. Another 184 hours is sought in 1995.
- 5. He had a propensity for trying to set standard fees in his court.
- 6. He had a well publicized opposition to fair probate fees, including the present statutory fees.
- Ultimately and belatedly, he recognized his bias. (See App 63)

The principal has been established in Florida that expert witness testimony is required for attorney fees, but is not binding on the court. See Lyle v. Lyle, 167 So.2d 256 (2 D.C.A. 1964); In re Estate of Harrell, 426 So.2d 63 (5 D.C.A. 1983); cf. §733.6171(5) Florida Statutes. So neither the probate judge nor the referee was bound by any of the expert testimony. This being so, the principle advanced by the Bar concerning the deference extended in review is an exercise in semantics. The referee could just as easily ascertain from the cold record, as from live testimony, a reasonable attorney fee. See, for example, Zelman v. Metropolitan Dade County, 645 So.2d 57 (3 D.C.A. 1994).

The referee did not hear the witnesses Foote and Reischman on fees. It does not take much knowledge to know that their

-15-

testimony at the probate trial was unconvincing. Even the probate judge disregarded their testimony.

The Bar is wrong when it says the probate judge accepted the testimony of the expert witnesses presented in the probate trial. The witness Foote testified to 100 hours at \$175.00 an hour. (PT 1223) The witness Reischman testified to 115 hours at \$175.00 an hour. (PT 1241, 1262) The probate judge allowed \$200.00 an hour, slightly more than the experts testified to. He allowed 215 hours or almost double what they testified to. (App 21)

So the dispute boils down to how much work was done. The witness whose credibility is in question on this point is Respondent. She alone is the fact witness on the number of hours in both proceedings. Experts can testify about the time they believe should have been taken, but only the Respondent knows the time that was taken. The referee believed Respondent and he had authority to do so. Both the probate judge and the referee observed her demeanor and the Bar had the opportunity to crossexamine her before the referee to destroy her credibility. Staff counsel failed to destroy her credibility before the referee. Respondent hopes that each member of the court will take the time to read the transcript of evidence before the referee because this is the crucial part of the record.

In this connection the question of whether the witness Biggs was an independent contractor or an employee is not relevant. It was initially raised by the Bar in an attempt to destroy the credibility of the time records of Respondent. But the Bar says

-16-

Respondent's testimony on the point is false. A lay witness's conclusion about her legal status being correct while a lawyer's contrary conclusion is false is an unusual conclusion for the Bar to reach. Imputing perjury to a legal conclusion is a new doctrine.

On page 19 of the Bar's brief, the Bar asserts that Rule 4-1.5(b) is "substantially consistent" with the loadstar method of computing fees. Yet staff counsel would have this court say that Florida Patients Compensation Fund v. Rowe, 472 So.2d 1145 (Fla. 1985) as applied to probate matters In re Estate of Platt, 586 So.2d 328 (Fla. 1991) permits only a mechanical formula of ascertaining hours and a rate and then by multiplying them. The gist of the Platt decision is:

> "The issue in this cause is whether section 733.617 allows "reasonable compensation" for attorneys and personal representatives to be computed <u>solely</u> on the basis of a fixed percentage of the amount of the probate estate...(emphasis not supplied)

...Determining a reasonable hourly rate for an attorney for a particular type of legal service and the number of hours that should be expended by the attorney in providing those services is an <u>appropriate starting point</u> for the computation of a reasonable fee in estate proceedings..." (emphasis supplied)

Respondent submits this means what it says. The other factors in the rule, when applicable, have to be accommodated in setting the fee. The size of an estate measures responsibility and is a proper factor to be considered. The purpose of Rowe, given by the Bar on page 35 of its brief, is wrong. In an estate the services are rendered for the beneficiaries, not the personal representative.

-17-

The Bar points out that some of the services provided may not have been legal services, but personal representative services. That problem has been resolved by this court in In re Lieber's Estate, 103 So.2d 192 (Fla. 1958). The personal representative may have a claim against Respondent for the reimbursement by the personal representative to the estate of the excess fees as determined in the probate court. Respondent may have a claim against the personal representative for the services performed by Respondent that should have been performed by the personal representative. Some of the contentions of the Bar about the distinction between attorney and personal representative services must be based on ignorance of the reality of probate practice. For example, with the exception of an institutional fiduciary, few personal representatives have the qualifications to properly keep the probate records. An attorney for a fiduciary who permits such a person to maintain the records is asking for trouble. Complaint is made about alleged vagueness of some of the time records. The criticism is after the fact and by persons who do not have to keep meticulous time records themselves. The complaints made in the Appendices C and D of the Bar's brief do not support its contention. For example, on A-16 time sheets showed "Attend funeral, talk with PR, beneficiaries, let in movers." The Bar has emphasized only the attendance at the funeral and that is admittedly not a proper legal charge. Whether the personal representative wanted some of the services provided is not relevant. Competent counsel will decide what services should

-18-

be performed by counsel in the absence of an institutional fiduciary.

The Bar makes much of the allegations that Respondent's records were "altered." A lawyer should always review his time records before billing to make sure they are accurate. A lawyer has just as much a right to supply omissions in billing on review as a duty to delete overbilling. A lawyer in a contested fee proceeding who does not review and correct is a fool! The testimony of the witnesses Bailey and Fuch at the disciplinary proceeding was thoroughly discredited. (See pages 7 and 8 of this brief)

The Bar asserts that Respondent was guilty of fraud and misrepresentation by allegations made in her pleadings in connection with the setting of attorney fees. The Bar has now elevated the pleadings to the status of accomplished facts. Even staff counsel should know that the pleadings in a civil action are a "...tentative outline of the position which the pleader takes before the case is fully developed..." See Vann v. Hobbs, 197 So.2d 43 (2 D.C.A. 1967). This court put that question to rest in Coggan v. Coggan, 239 So.2d 17 (Fla. 1970) when the District Court of Appeal tried to elevate a pleading into evidence. Probably the point showing the Bar's attempt to persecute this proceeding, rather than to prosecute it, is best shown by the assertions on page 31 of the Bar's brief about the attachment of the agreements from residuary beneficiaries to her pleading. The will of the decedent was in the probate file. Anyone could count

-19-

the number of residuary beneficiaries. Respondent attached all of the agreements that she had received. All this probate judge had to do was count. Since Respondent made no allegation concerning the beneficiaries who had rejected the proposal, she had no duty to say anything about that or to attach the correspondence from those beneficiaries, contrary to the Bar's position.

The Bar contends there was misrepresentation or fraud also because Respondent allegedly did not tell the personal representative of the Platt decision, did not tell her of her liability to reimburse the estate for excess payments and tried to obtain the consent of the residuary beneficiaries to a percentage fee. The allegations are not supported by the record. (See page 3 of this brief)

The Bar contends the payments to Respondent should have been placed in Respondent's trust account and that when she placed the funds in her operating account and used them, she was misappropriating client trust funds. There was no authority on which to support this position until after the probate trial. (See Opinion 76-27, Professional Ethics of The Florida Bar) Respondent was entitled to rely on the opinion. This statement in the Bar's brief at page 36 that Respondent admitted the fees were trust fund is belied by the quotation itself.

The alleged motive for Respondent's obtaining advance fees was her financial problems. The business account records do not show any personal financial problems. The Bar asked the referee

-20-

to draw an inference from the records that he declined to do so. No business financial problems occurred until Respondent was injured in an automobile accident. (See page 3 of this brief) The testimony of the witnesses Bailey and Fuch on this was incompetent.

As side issues the Bar has accused Respondent of violating a court order, engaging in conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice and failing to competently represent her client.

The only evidence that Respondent did not provide competent representation or explain the matter to her client properly is the testimony of personal representative and the allegations about violation of Respondent's fiduciary duty to the beneficiaries. Respondent testified that she told the personal representative of her personal liability. While the personal representative made such a claim, it is not credible because she served as personal representative on other estates (PT 1278); was an experienced personal representative and guardian (PT 1278-1282); was told her fees could be challenged and that she should keep time records (PT 1309); and was aware of the Platt decision (PT 23-24).

The Bar says that Respondent failed in her duty to the beneficiaries of the estate by:

1. Attempting to charge Biggs accounting services to the estate at \$125.00 an hour. The only basis for that according to the Bar is that Biggs was an independent contractor. The Bar accepts that she could make that determination. The only person the disloyal Biggs convinced was The Florida Bar. She may have stolen money from Respondent; she certainly stole her trust account computer program. Whatever the discussions in

-21-

reconstructing time records, only the 54 hours testified to by Biggs went before the probate court.

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